STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Florence County
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 02 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THOMAS E. DAVIS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000105

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROSE MARY PARHAM
Parham Law Firm, LLC
541 West Evans Street
Florence, South Carolina 29501
(843) 407-7757

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge correctly find that Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive the right to direct appeal and was entitled to a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State?

2. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find that trial counsel was ineffective where trial counsel failed to adequately prepare the case for trial with Petitioner; failed to make an opening statement; failed to move to sequester the witnesses; failed to impeach a critical witness for the State with his prior record; failed to cross-examine the only testifying co-defendant about his hopes for a better deal from the State; failed to engage in any meaningful and thought-provoking cross-examination of the State's witnesses; failed to object to any of the State's evidence; failed to object to the Court's charge that implied malice is sufficient to sustain a conviction attempted murder; failed to object to the "hand of one, hand of all" being applicable in this case; and failed to object to the Assistant Solicitor's inappropriate and prejudicial comments during closing argument?

STATEMENT OF CASE

On September 8, 2011, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Davis, Tyon Michael Evans, and Rasheem Kevin Thomas for attempted murder and armed robbery and additionally indicted Petitioner Davis for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-21-1371). On June 18, 2012, Petitioner Davis selected a jury and proceeded to trial. Richard Strobel represented Petitioner. John Jepertinger represented the State. The Honorable Thomas A. Russo presided. On June 20, 2012, the jury convicted Petitioner as indicted of armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. Judge Russo sentenced Petitioner to twenty (20) years for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, thirty (30) years concurrent for Armed Robbery, and five (5) years consecutive for the weapons charge. Counsel did not file a notice of appeal.

On March 27, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post conviction relief. The State filed a return on December 17, 2013. On October 9, 2014, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Jonathan D. Waller represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Croom Hunter represented the State. In an amended written order filed December 29, 2016, Judge Dickson denied relief but found Petitioner was entitled to a belated appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263, S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

On January 19, 2017, Petitioner filed and served his notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows. In compliance with this Court's directive in Davis

v. State, 288 S.C. 290, 342 S.E.2d 60 (1986), Appellant is filing this petition for writ of certiorari addressing the issue of waiver of his direct appeal as well as the denial of his PCR claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and Appellant is filing a brief addressing his direct appeal issue simultaneously.

ARGUMENT

The standard for review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before the reviewing court: it will defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them; but will review questions of law de novo, with no deference to the trial courts. Smalls v. State, --- S.E.2d ---, 2018 WL 736339 (2018).

1. THE PCR COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT PETITIONER DID NOT KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO APPEAL AND WAS ENTITLED TO A BELATED DIRECT APPEAL PURSUANT TO WHITE V. STATE, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E. 2d 35 (1974).

When a client is convicted and sentenced, trial counsel has a duty to make certain the client is fully aware of the right to appeal. Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010); see also In re Anonymous Member of the Bar, 303 S.C. 306, 400 S.E.2d 483 (1991); White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 118, 208 S.E.2d 35, 39 (1974). "Following a trial, counsel is required to make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal." Turner v. State, 380 S.C. 223, 224, 670 S.E.2d 373, 374 (2008). "To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the

appeal.” Clark v. State, 396 S.C. 164, 168; 719 S.E.2d 708, 710 (2011)(internal quotation omitted). “In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in Anders v. California, 386, U.S. 738 (1967).” Smith v. State, 309 S.C. 413, 424 S.E.2d 480 (1992); see also White, 263 S.C. at 118, 208 S.E.2d at 39. Even after a trial in absentia, a defendant is entitled to a direct appeal; the voluntary absence from trial does not act as a waiver of the right to a direct appeal. Braddock v. State, 344 S.C. 578, 580, 545 S.E.2d 498, 499 (2001).

“[A] lawyer who disregards specific instructions from the defendant to file a notice of appeal acts in a manner that is professionally unreasonable.” Roe v. Flores-Oretega, 528 U.S. 470, 477 (2000). “This is so because a defendant who instructs counsel to initiate an appeal reasonably relies upon counsel to file the necessary notice. Counsel’s failure to do so cannot be considered a strategic decision; filing a notice of appeal is purely a ministerial task, and the failure to file reflects inattention to the defendant’s wishes.” Id. This Court held a defendant was entitled to a belated direct appeal where the defendant informed trial counsel he wanted to appeal but decided against appeal after receiving erroneous advice from counsel. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 651-652, 594 S.E.2d 462, 465-466 (2004). Sheppard had been convicted of murder, and the jury had found an aggravating circumstance but recommended a sentence of life imprisonment. Id. at 651-652, 594 S.E.2d at 465. When Sheppard told his counsel that he wanted appeal, counsel advised against an appeal because the state could seek the death penalty again if he were granted a new trial. Id. at 652, 594 S.E.2d at 465. Based on this advice, Sheppard decided not to appeal. Id. at 652, 594 S.E.2d at 466. Counsel’s advice was erroneous in light of controlling Supreme Court precedent that the state

cannot seek a harsher sentence upon retrial when a jury or appellate court finds the prosecution failed to prove its case for death. Id. at 653, 594 S.E.2d at 466 (citing Sheppard's decision not to appeal was not a voluntary waiver as it was induced by erroneous advice; thus, he was entitled to a belated direct appeal. Id.

The appropriate scope of review on appeal in PCR proceedings is whether any evidence of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). Ample evidence supports the PCR court's determination. Petitioner testified that he requested trial counsel to file an appeal, and trial counsel failed to do so. Although trial counsel denies Petitioner asking him to file an appeal, it would be hard to imagine a scenario where one is convicted by a jury and sentenced to 35 years imprisonment but does not wish to appeal. Further, trial counsel's incompetence throughout the entire trial should shed light on whether he may have failed to file an appeal after being asked to do so. Petitioner was thus denied his "one fair bite at the apple" because he did not voluntarily or intelligently waive his right to direct appeal." Wilson v. State, 348 S.C. 215, 218, 559 S.E.2d 581, 582 (2002) (providing that "[a] defendant has the procedural right to one fair bite at the apple. That is, every defendant has a right to file a direct appeal."); Legge v. State, 349 S.C. 222, 562 S.E.2d 618 (2002)(providing that a defendant has the right to a belated direct appeal when he did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal.) Therefore, the record is clearly sufficient to support the PCR judge's conclusion that Petitioner is entitled to a belated appeal pursuant to White, supra.

2. THE PCR JUDGE ERRED IN REFUSING TO FIND THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHERE TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PREPARE THE CASE FOR TRIAL WITH PETITIONER; FAILED TO MAKE AN OPENING STATEMENT; FAILED TO MOVE TO SEQUESTER THE WITNESSES; FAILED TO IMPEACH A CRITICAL WITNESS FOR THE STATE WITH HIS PRIOR CRIMINAL RECORD; FAILED TO IMPEACH THE ONLY TESTIFYING CO-DEFENDANT REGARDING HIS BIAS TOWARD THE STATE; FAILED TO ENGAGE IN ANY MEANINGFUL CROSS-EXAMINATION; FAILED TO OBJECT TO ANY OF THE STATE'S EVIDENCE; FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE COURT'S ERRONEOUS CHARGE THAT IMPLIED MALICE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED MURDER; FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE CHARGE OF "HAND OF ONE, HAND OF ALL" BEING APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE; AND FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE ASSISTANT SOLICITOR'S INAPPROPRIATE AND PREJUDICIAL COMMENTS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT.

In the amended order of dismissal, the PCR judge found that Petitioner failed to prove that trial counsel was ineffective. (App. 530-537). The PCR judge erred. Trial counsel was clearly ineffective as evidenced by the entire record in this case.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "Under this prong, '[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing norms.'" Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a

manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel acknowledged the following:

- (1) That he never interviewed the SLED analyst who performed the gunshot residue test prior to trial (App. 459);
- (2) That he never interviewed the SLED ballistics expert prior to trial (App. 460);
- (3) That he never spoke to the crime scene investigator prior to trial (App. 460);
- (4) That he allowed the State to admit all of its exhibits without objection prior to trial (App. 463);
- (5) That he filed no pretrial motions other than a motion for bond (App. 464);
- (6) That he made no motion to sequester the witnesses (App. 464);
- (7) That he made no opening statement prior to the State's case or prior to the defendant's case (App. 465);
- (8) That he never impeached State's eyewitness Arentus Garrett with his prior criminal record (App. 466);
- (9) That he failed to object to the "hand of one, hand of all" charge being applicable to this case, despite reservations by the trial judge (App. 470)

A review of the trial record in this case confirms the above deficiencies of trial counsel and shows other ways in which trial counsel's performance prejudiced the Petitioner. Those are as follows:

- (1) Trial counsel failed to try and impeach the sole testifying co-defendant regarding any bias toward the State. (App. 261-270).
- (2) Trial counsel failed to object to the Court's erroneous charge regarding implied malice being sufficient to sustain a conviction for attempted murder (App. 354-355)
- (3) Trial counsel failed to cross-examine the victim regarding the fact that he stated the shooter was wearing a black shirt, and Petitioner's booking photo showed he was wearing a white shirt (App. 76);
- (4) Trial counsel failed to object to the following improper remarks by the prosecutor in his closing statement: "And in a way, to tell you the truth, after he testified yesterday I feel sorry for him. I feel sorry for him that the only solace, the only place that he can find protection is what did he say, in the hood. But my feeling sorry for him for his ignorance in terms of that lifestyle falls short when I consider

what he did to this man. Justice under your oath cries out for one verdict...” (App. 345).

(5) Trial counsel’s cross-examination with regard to all of the State’s witnesses was incredibly poor (App. 84-270).

In addition to the aforementioned examples of trial counsel’s deficient performance, Petitioner alleges that trial counsel failed to meet with him at the jail for trial preparation; failed to show him the SLED GSR and ballistics reports; failed to prepare him to testify; and failed to file a notice of appeal after being requested to do so.