STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000105

Thomas E. Davis,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner,

Respondent,

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101254

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
AUG 01 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal.

Counsel testified he did not file an appeal because Petitioner did not ask him to, nor did he see any meritorious issues for appeal. App. pp. 471-72. Petitioner testified he was not aware of his right to an appeal. App. pp. 430-31, 442. However, following a trial, counsel is required to make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal. White, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35. In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). Id. Accordingly, Respondent agrees, based on the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal. App. pp. 540-41.

II. There is evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not deficient, nor was Petitioner prejudiced by any alleged deficiencies.

Petitioner alleges his trial counsel was ineffective for the following reasons: failing to adequately prepare for trial with Petitioner; failing to make an opening statement; failing to move to sequester the witnesses; failing to impeach a witness for the State with his prior record; failing to impeach the testifying codefendant about possible bias towards the State; failing to engage in meaningful cross-examination of the State's witnesses; failing to object to any of the State's evidence; failing to object to the Court's charge that implied malice is sufficient to sustain a conviction attempted murder; failing to object to the "hand of one, hand of all" charge as being inapplicable in this case; and failing to object to the Assistant Solicitor's alleged inappropriate

comments during closing argument. Essentially, Petitioner alleges he is entitled to a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine. PWC pp. 9, 11.

However, after carefully considering these allegations,² the PCR judge denied Petitioner's application, correctly finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in showing either deficiency or prejudice because trial counsel articulated reasonable trial strategies in response to each of Petitioner's allegations. App. pp. 521-42.

A. South Carolina has not recognized the cumulative-error doctrine, and in any event, cumulative-error analysis is in applicable to Petitioner's case, so post-conviction relief is not appropriate on that basis.

Petitioner argues, essentially, the cumulative effect of all trial counsel's errors prejudiced him to the extent he is entitled to a new trial. PWC pp. 9, 11. This argument is without merit, as not only did trial counsel not commit any errors, but this Court has never recognized the cumulative-error doctrine as a basis for post-conviction relief. See, e.g., Simpson v. State, 367 S.C. 587, 604, 627 S.E.2d 701, 710 (2006) (recognizing that "[w]hether several errors, which are independently found not to be prejudicial, may cumulatively warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina" and holding that "[b]ecause the PCR court found that only one of Simpson's allegations had merit, there was no need to conduct a cumulative-error analysis"); Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 197, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324-25 (2002) ("Whether the cumulation of several errors, which by themselves are not prejudicial, would warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina.").

² As discussed more fully below, Respondent contends the allegations trial counsel failed to move to sequester the witnesses, to impeach the testifying codefendant about possible bias towards the State, and to object to the Court's charge that implied malice were not raised to the PCR court and are therefore not preserved for this Court's review. See, e.g., United Carolina Bank v. Caroprop, Ltd., 311 S.C. 376, 429 S.E.2d 197 (Ct. App. 1993) (explaining an issue was not preserved for appeal where the issue was raised but not ruled on by trial court and the party raising the issue made no motion asking court to rule on it).

Many other jurisdictions, including the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, have held a cumulative-error analysis of the prejudice prong of Strickland is inappropriate, and the correct analysis focuses upon each individual allegation of ineffective assistance. Fisher v. Angelone, 163 F.3d 835, 852-53 (4th Cir. 1998); Wainwright v. Lockhart, 80 F.3d 1226 (8th Cir. 1996); Jones v. Sotts, 59 F.3d 143, 147 (10th Cir. 1995). As the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals explained in Fisher v. Angelone:

Fisher argues that the cumulative effect of his trial counsel's individual actions deprived him of a fair trial. We disagree. Having just determined that none of counsel's actions could be considered constitutional error. . . it would be odd, to say the least, to conclude that those same actions, when considered collectively, deprived Fisher of a fair trial. Not surprisingly, it has long been the practice of the Fourth Circuit individually to assess claims under Strickland v. Washington. . . . To the extent this Court has not specifically stated that ineffective assistance of counsel claims, like claims of trial court error, must be reviewed individually, rather than collectively, we do so now. In so holding, we are in agreement with the majority of our sister circuits that have considered the issue.

Id. (citations omitted). See also Mueller v. Angelone, 181 F.3d 557, 586 n.22 (4th Cir. 1999) (“Petitioner also urges us to consider the cumulative effect of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims rather than whether each claim, considered alone, establishes a constitutional violation. This argument is squarely foreclosed by our recent decision in Fisher, 163 F.3d [...at] 852-53 [...]”). The Fourth Circuit further explained, “legitimate cumulative-error analysis evaluates only the effect of matters actually determined to be constitutional error, not the cumulative effect of all of counsel’s actions deemed deficient.” Fischer, 163 F.3d at 852 n. 9.

In this case, none of the actions Petitioner alleges were error were found to be so by the PCR court, nor did the PCR court find Petitioner was prejudiced by any of the alleged errors. App. p. 509. As a result, a cumulative-error analysis would be inappropriate on these facts under

any interpretation of the doctrine. This Court should therefore deny the Petition, and the PCR Court's findings should be affirmed.

B. Petitioner's allegations concerning trial counsel's failure to move to sequester witnesses, to impeach the testifying codefendant as to possible bias towards the State, and to object to the trial court's jury instruction concerning implied malice were not ruled upon by the PCR court, nor were they addressed in Petitioner's motion to amend the order the dismissal, and therefore, they are not preserved for this Court's review.

Petitioner's allegations concerning trial counsel's failure to move to sequester witnesses, to impeach the testifying codefendant as to possible bias towards the State, and to object to the trial court's jury instruction concerning implied malice are not preserved and should not be considered in any calculation of prejudice to Petitioner or as part of a cumulative-error analysis, should this Court decide it is appropriate.

It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). As this Court has repeatedly noted, when an "issue was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court, it is procedurally barred." Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (citing Hyman v. State, 278 S.C. 501, 299 S.E.2d 330 (1983)). Further, even if an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). "If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Here, Petitioner's application contained only a broad allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel. App. p. 388. At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel was briefly questioned about these issues, but Petitioner did not move to amend his application to include these specific allegations.

App. pp. 410-79. Therefore, the PCR court properly did not make any findings of fact as to these issues in its original Order of Dismissal, nor did Petitioner include them in his in his post-trial motion to amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. App. pp. 499-520. Thus, Petitioner has waived these allegations, precluding review by this Court. See Smith v. State, 404 S.C. 493, 745 S.E.2d 378 (Ct. App. 2012) (find an issue unpreserved for appellate review where, although trial counsel was questioned about the issue at the PCR hearing, it was not plead in the application or addressed in the PCR court's order, and PCR counsel did not file a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e)); Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) (holding that when a PCR court fails to make specific findings as to an issue, a Rule 59(e) motion is necessary to preserve the issue for appeal).

C. As to the remaining allegations, there is probative evidence to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not deficient because he articulated reasonable trial strategies to explain his decisions and performance at trial, nor was Petitioner prejudiced by any of trial counsel's alleged deficiencies.

Petitioner contends, in general, trial counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial with him. Specifically, Petitioner alleges a litany of complaints, as articulated above. "Counsel's performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel 'rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.'" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. There is a strong presumption that counsel's decisions are based on tactical strategy rather than neglect. Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (quoting Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003)).

"Accordingly, when counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel." Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d

514, 517 (2000)). See also Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (holding where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (holding counsel may avoid a finding of ineffectiveness if he articulates a valid reason for using a certain strategy). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)). Further, on review, this Court “gives great deference to a PCR judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved.” Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)).

1. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court’s finding trial counsel adequately prepared for trial.

To establish counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial, Petitioner must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses could have been pursued had counsel more fully prepared. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 511 S.E.2d 62 (1999) (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to timely request discovery because the contents of the documents were not presented at the PCR hearing); Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 496 S.E.2d 415 (1998) (holding trial counsel’s failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result); Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 486 S.E.2d 747 (1997) (denying relief where applicant failed to present witnesses or specific testimony establishing applicant would have had a defense with additional time to prepare for trial); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997) (finding applicant was not entitled to relief where no evidence was presented

at the PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had any possible effect on the result at trial).

Although Petitioner testified that he first met with Counsel only one time, and he and Counsel never discussed his trial or the State's evidence, the PCR court expressly found this testimony was not credible. App. p. 506. In contrast, Counsel testified he met with Petitioner at least a dozen times at the detention center prior to trial, and he also spoke on the phone with Petitioner multiple times. App. p. 449. Counsel testified he did not need to meet with Petitioner any more than he did in order to prepare for trial. App. p. 449. Counsel testified he went over the elements of the charges against Petitioner, he filed Rule 5 and Brady motions and reviewed the discovery materials with Petitioner, including the gunshot residue test from SLED. App. pp. 503-04. In addition, Counsel testified he and Petitioner discussed Petitioner's version of events, and Petitioner never gave him the names of any potential witnesses to investigate. App. p. 503.

Most importantly, at the PCR hearing, Petitioner did not present any witnesses or defenses he did not have a chance to present at trial, so any claim of prejudice to Petitioner is purely speculative. App. p. 499. Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result. Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629 S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006) (citing, 329 S.C. at 334, 496 S.E.2d at 417). Therefore, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient in his investigation and preparation of the case for trial, nor was Petitioner prejudiced by any of Counsel's alleged errors. App. pp. 531-32, 540.

2. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not ineffective for waiving opening argument because trial counsel articulated a reasonable trial strategy for doing so.

Petitioner also contends Counsel was ineffective for waiving his opening statement. As Counsel explained at the evidentiary hearing, he did not want to lock the defense into a specific version of events because Counsel was not sure Petitioner would not change his story or decide not to take the stand at all. App. pp. 474-73, 506. Counsel also testified he elected to not give an opening statement because he did not want to put certain things in front of the jury prematurely, until he "got them straight." App. p. 465. Counsel further testified he was concerned by Petitioner's insistence that he take the stand in his own defense, and Petitioner testified against Counsel's advice. App. pp. 451-52.

Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found Counsel's concern over presenting conflicting theories of the case to the jury or being unable to back up his opening statement should Petitioner change his mind about testifying was sound, and the decision to waive opening argument was reasonable. App. p. 492. Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Furthermore, Petitioner has not shown any prejudice from Counsel's decision to waive his opening statement.

3. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not deficient in failing to impeach a State's witness with his prior record.

Petitioner also contends Counsel was ineffective for not attempting to impeach the State's eyewitness Arenthus Garrett based on his prior criminal record. When asked about his trial strategy in questioning Garrett, Counsel stated he felt there was no need to bring up Garrett's

criminal record because Garrett was “a victim” and “an eyewitness.” App. p. 474. Counsel testified he felt there was little to be gained by attempting to impeach the witness that way. App. p. 474. Additionally, the State questioned Garrett about his criminal history on direct examination, so the information was already in front of the jury. App. pp. 93-94.

Therefore, because Counsel articulated a reasonable strategy for not engaging in this particular line of cross-examination and because Petitioner was not prejudiced by the decision, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not ineffective on this ground. See Abney v. State, 408 S.C. 41, 48, 757 S.E.2d 544, 547 (Ct. App. 2014) (“[D]ecisions primarily involving trial strategy and tactics may be made by trial counsel. Examples of such decisions include ‘which jurors to accept or strike, which witnesses should be called on the defendant’s behalf, what evidence should be introduced, whether to object to the admission of evidence, [and] whether and how a witness should be cross-examined.’” (quoting Sexton v. French, 163 F.3d 874, 885 (4th Cir.1998))).

4. There is probative evidence to support the PCR court’s finding trial counsel was not deficient in his cross-examination of the State’s witnesses.

Petitioner contends “trial counsel’s examination with regard to all witnesses was incredibly poor,” and “the strongest piece of evidence. . ., [that] Petitioner had gunshot residue on his hands and his codefendants did not. . . could have easily been cast into doubt with proper cross-examination.” PWC p. 11. The specific issue of cross-examining the gunshot residue examiner was not raised by Petitioner at the evidentiary hearing or addressed in the PCR court’s Order of Dismissal or Petitioner’s Rule 59(e) motion. App. pp. 410-79, 517-42. However, the order did address Petitioner’s allegation Counsel did not adequately rebut the evidence presented by the State’s crime scene expert, Paul Bird. App. p. 550. Counsel cross-examined Bird

regarding his failure to fingerprint the getaway car and various other pieces of evidence, including the gun magazine and shell casings. App. pp. 237-241.

Petitioner also offered his own explanation for how he got gunshot residue on his hands, testifying he had been shooting “in the country” earlier that afternoon before meeting up with Thomas and Evans. App. pp. 306-07. In addition, Officer Keith Von Lutcken, who collected the gunshot residue samples from Petitioner and his codefendants, testified on cross-examination “[g]unshot residue is just a very fine powder, and just merely a ceiling fan can blow it away.” App. p. 137. Von Lutcken also confirmed the residue could be transferred to a person’s hands if the person merely touched an object with residue on it. App. pp. 136-37. Further, Ila Simmons, the SLED gunshot residue analyst conceded on cross-examination the residue found on Petitioner’s hands could have come from any gun, and there was no way to determine specifically whether it came from the gun used in the shooting. App. pp. 198-99. Additionally, Simmons testified as to the fragility of gunshot residue and explained “everything someone does with their hands – handling a towel, putting clothes on, washing their hands, showering – can remove gunshot residue.” App. p. 191. Finally, Counsel referred to all of this testimony in his closing argument and pointed out the presence of the gunshot residue on Petitioner’s hands could be explained by something other than actually firing a weapon, such as picking it up from the back seat of the police car. App. pp. 323-25.

Accordingly, there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court’s finding Counsel’s performance with regards to cross-examining the State’s witnesses was not deficient. App. pp. 533-34.

5. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not deficient for consenting to the admission of the State's evidence prior to trial where trial counsel explained he saw no viable basis for objection and did not wish to delay the trial over non-meritorious issues.

Petitioner further alleges Counsel was ineffective because he agreed to the admission of the State's evidence at the beginning of the trial, prior to the State's witnesses laying a foundation of its admission. At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel explained his general practice is to review the State's proposed exhibits before trial and "put it into evidence before the trial of the case to save time." App. p. 464. However, Counsel also testified "if it was evidence that needed a foundation, then [he] would not approve for it to be put into evidence before the trial of the case." App. p. 474. Thus, Counsel offered a reasonable explanation for this decision, and the PCR court was correct in finding he was not deficient. See Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 562, 425 S.E.2d 20, 22 (1992) ("Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective.").

In addition, Petitioner offered no evidence at the PCR hearing that any of the evidence was actually inadmissible, so the PCR court's finding Petitioner did not prove any prejudice was also correct. See, e.g., Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) ("In order to support a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview or call potential alibi witnesses, a PCR applicant must produce the witnesses at the PCR hearing or otherwise introduce the witnesses' testimony in a manner consistent with the rules of evidence. The applicant's mere speculation what the witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice.").

6. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the "hand of one, hand of all" charge being applicable in this case.

Petitioner next contends Counsel was ineffective for not objecting when the solicitor requested the judge give the jury a "hand of one, hand of all" charge. However, Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he did not object to the charge because he felt it could be beneficial to his client. App. p. 474. Petitioner brought up the theory of accomplice liability on his own, admitting he knew he and his codefendants could all be charged "for one bullet being shot," and his testimony provided a basis for this jury charge since his story was that he was not the shooter, but he was planning to help Thomas confront the victim. App. p. 293-94, 307, 439.

"The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "A request to charge a correct statement of the law on an issue raised by the indictment and the evidence presented at trial should not be refused." State v. Austin, 299 S.C. 456, 458, 385 S.E.2d 830, 831 (1989). Because the charge was arguably supported by the evidence presented at trial, specifically Petitioner's own testimony, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the charge. App. pp. 534-35. Additionally, there was ample evidence by which the jury could have convicted Petitioner as a principal -- namely the gunshot residue on his hands and not on his codefendants' and the credible testimony of the eyewitness who described the shooter as having dreadlocks and a white shirt, and Petitioner was the only codefendant with long dreadlocks. Therefore, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove any prejudice. App. p. 535.

7. There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding trial counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the Assistant Solicitor's comments during closing argument.

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